

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL, SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR THEORETICAL PHYSICS I.C.T.P., P.O. BOX 586, 34100 TRIESTE, ITALY, CABLE: CENTRATOM TRIESTE



SMR.780 - 66

FOURTH AUTUMN COURSE ON MATHEMATICAL ECOLOGY

(24 October - 11 November 1994)

"Deterministic and Statistical Models of Chemical Fate in Aquatic Systems"

Robert V. Thomann Environmental Engineering & Science Program Manhattan College Riverdale, NY 10471 U.S.A.

These are preliminary lecture notes, intended only for distribution to participants.

Reprint from

Biomathematics, Vol. 18 Levin, Hallam, Gross (Eds.) · Applied Mathematical Ecology 1

1

ł

1.

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989 Printed in the United States of America



Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York London Paris Tokyo

Deterministic and Statistical Models of Chemical Fate in Aquatic Systems¹

Robert V. Thomann

Contents

I. Theory 323

- A. Physical-Chemical Fate and Transport Model 323
- B. Local Equilibrium Equations 327
- C. Food Chain Model 328
- D. Age-Dependent Model 330
- II. Steady State Simplification for Rivers 333
- III. Time Variable Models of Benzo(a)pyrene and Cadmium in the Great Lakes 337
- IV. Statistical Variation in Fish 344 Analytical Model of Statistical Variation of Organic Chemical in Fish – Water Uptake Only 345

V. Conclusions 349

References 350

This paper has several purposes: (a) to summarize the basic models of the steady state transport and fate of chemicals in aquatic systems including uptake and distribution in the aquatic food chain, (b) to illustrate the deterministic time variable behavior of chemical fate models with several applications to the Great Lakes and (c) to develop some statistical models of chemical variability in aquatic organisms, specifically, the fish.

The ability to analyze and predict the transport of potentially toxic chemicals is one of the central requirements of risk assessment and subsequent risk management. Steady state models can be of specific value in the early stages of chemical screening for generic problem contexts and to elucidate basic principles of chemical fate and uptake into the food chain. Time variable models are particularly useful for predicting recovery times of aquatic systems following some abatement program of chemical control. These steady state and time variable models essentially estimate the average or deterministically varying chemical exposure concentration to aquatic organisms. Risk assessment also requires some evaluation of the stochastic behavior of chemicals both in the water and in fish. The paper is therefore divided into four parts: 1) the basic theory and associated equations; 2) steady state simplifications; 3) deterministic time variable models and 4) analytical and numerical models of statistical behavior of chemicals in fish.

¹This article also appears in Levin, S.A., et al. (eds.) (1988) Ecotoxicology: Problems and Approaches. Springer Advanced Texts in Life Sciences. Springer, New York Heidelberg Berlin London Paris Tokyo, chap. 10, pp. 245–277.

I. Theory

A. Physical-Chemical Fate and Transport Model

The principal components of the physical-chemical fate and transport model framework are reviewed in Thomann and Mueller (1987), Delos et al. (1984), Thomann and Di Toro (1983), and Di Toro et al. (1981), among others.

The development can begin by considering a simple one-dimensional river as shown in Fig. 1. The chemical in the water column is transported by the flow Q. Losses of chemical may occur as a result of microbial degradation, volatilization or other pathways. The sediment however in all of the models discussed in this paper is not considered to be moving. There is a transfer of chemical from the sediment to the water column and vice versa via settling and resuspension of particulate chemical forms and sediment diffusion of dissolved chemical.

The one-dimensional mass balance equation for any form of the chemical (dissolved or particulate) is for the water column

$$\frac{\partial c_1}{\partial t} = -\frac{1}{A}\frac{\partial}{\partial x}(Qc_1) + \frac{1}{A}\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x}EA\frac{\partial c_1}{\partial x}\right] + \text{sources} - \text{sinks}$$
(1)



Fig. 1. Notation for physio-chemical fate model in streams

and for the surface sediment

$$\frac{\partial c_2}{\partial t} = \text{Sources} - \text{Sinks}$$
(2)

where c_1 and c_2 are the chemical concentrations in the water column and sediment $[M_T/L^3; M_T = \text{mass of toxicant}, L^3 = \text{bulk volume of solids plus water}], Q$ is the river flow $[L^3/T]$, A is the cross-sectional area $[L^2]$, E is the longitudinal dispersion coefficient $[L^2/T]$, x is distance down-stream and t is time.

The chemical in the models discussed herein is assumed to be composed to two forms: 1) the dissolved form, $c'_{d} [M_{T}/L^{3}_{w}; L^{3}_{w} =$ volume of water], and 2) the particulate form, $c_{p} [M_{T}/L^{3}]$, i.e. the toxicant sorbed onto particulate matter in the water column or sediment. The total chemical concentration is then

$$c_T = c_p + \phi c_d' \tag{3}$$

where ϕ is the porosity $[L_w^3/L^3]$.

Eq. (3) is

$$c_T = c_p + c_d$$
(4)

where

$$c_d = \phi c'_d \tag{5}$$

for $c_d [M_T/L^3]$ as the porosity corrected dissolved concentration.

With the general framework described, the detailed equations for the various forms of the chemical can be presented.

Dissolved Chemical

An explicit finite differencing of Eq. 1 together with sources and sinks of the dissolved chemical in a temporarily constant control volume (V_1) of the water column is given by

$$V_{1}\frac{dc_{d1}}{dt} = [(Qc_{d1}^{+}) - Q_{1}c_{d1} + E'((c_{d1})^{+} - c_{d1}) + E'((c_{d1})^{-} - c_{d1})]$$
(Transport)
+ $k_{1}V_{1}c_{p1} - k_{u1}m_{1}V_{1}c_{d1}$ (Sorption-desorption)
+ $K_{f12}A(c_{d2}^{'} - c_{d1}^{'})$ (Sediment diffusive exchange)
- $K_{d1}V_{1}c_{d1}$ (Decay and losses)
- $k_{l1}A(c_{g}/H_{e} - c_{d1}^{'})$ (Volatilization)
+ W_{d1} . (Input)
(6)

The group of terms in brackets represents the transport and dispersion of the dissolved toxicant. Superscript + indicates the upstream direction and superscript

Deterministic and Statistical Models of Chemical Fate

- indicates the downstream direction. The net transport flows, Q, are written in an equivalent backward difference approximation to the underlying partial differential equation (E1.1). The dispersion or mixing between segments of length Δx is given by the bulk dispersion coefficient which in turn is related to the dispersion coefficient by

$$E' = \frac{EA}{Ax}.$$
(7)

The second line on the left of Eq. (6) is the balance between the desorption of the chemical in the particulate phase $(k_{d1} V_1 c_{p1})$ which increases the dissolved form (the desorption rate is k_{d1} [1/T], and the adsorption from the dissolved phase onto the particulates given by $k_{u1}m_1c_{d1}$. (The sorption rate is $k_{u1}[L^3/M_s - d]$ and the solids concentration is $m_1 [M_s/L^3]$. Note that this latter term depends on the mass of solids available for sorption from the dissolved phase.

The third line of Eq. (6) represents the diffusive exchange between the sediment dissolved chemical concentration c'_{d2} in the interstitial water and the dissolved chemical concentration in the water column, c'_{d1} . The sediment-water diffusive transfer coefficient, $K_{f12}[L/T]$ can be considered as an overall interfacial transfer coefficient relating to the diffusion of the toxicant across the sediment-water interface.

Decay and loss mechanisms such as biodegradation, photolysis etc. of the dissolved form are included in the fourth line of the equation. Therefore, $K_{d1}[1/T]$ represents the sum of individual rates, some of which in turn may represent rather complex mechanisms. Note that for this model all the loss rates are assumed to be first order.

Volatilization of the dissolved toxicant is given by the fifth line of Eq. (6) where c_g represents the gas phase of the chemical $[M_T/L_g^3; L_g^3 =$ volume of gas] which may or may not be zero, and H_e is the Henry's constant for the chemical $[M_T/L_g^3 \div M_T/L_w^3]$.

The last line represents all external sources or inputs of dissolved chemical, $W_{d1}[M_T/T]$ from point direct discharge sources as well as non-point and tributary inputs.

An equation similar to Eq. (6) can be written for the dissolved chemical in the sediment layer underneath the typical water column segment 1. This layer is designated with the subscript 2. Thus

$$V_{2} \frac{dc_{d2}}{dt} = k_{d2} V_{2} c_{p2} - k_{u2} m_{2} V_{2} c_{d2} + K_{f12} A(c'_{d1} - c'_{d2}) - K_{d2} V_{2} c_{d2} - v_{d2} A c_{d2} + K_{f23} A(c'_{d3} - c'_{d2}).$$
(8)

The first three lines of the right side of Eq. (8) have already been discussed relative to the water column. The fourth line of Eq. (8) expresses the "burial" or transfer down into the sediment of the dissolved toxicant due to net sedimentation or build-up of the sediment layer at a net sedimentation rate of $v_{d2}[LT]$. The last line of Eq. (8) is

4 M.K

the diffusive exchange of dissolved toxicant between the first and second sediment layers under the water column. Similar equations can be written for each successive sediment layer. Note that there are no dissolved transport terms for the sediment thereby indicating that the sediment is assumed to be stationary in the horizontal direction. Also, mechanical mixing of sediment layers (due, for example, to bioturbation) is not included, but is readily added with an additional mixing term.

Particulate Chemical

The mass balance equation for the chemical sorbed onto the particulates in the water column segment 1 is given by

$$V_{1} \frac{dc_{p1}}{dt} = [(Qc_{p1})^{+} - Q_{1}c_{p1} + E'((c_{p1})^{+} - c_{p1}) + E'((c_{p1})^{-} - c_{p1}) \text{ (Transport)} - k_{d1} V_{1}c_{p1} + k_{u1}m_{1} V_{1}c_{d1} \text{ (Desorption-sorption)} - v_{s}Ac_{p1} \text{ (Particulate settling)} + v_{u}Ac_{p2} \text{ (Particulate resuspension)} - K_{p1} V_{1}c_{p1} \text{ (Decay)} + W_{p1}. \text{ (Input) (9)}$$

The first line of this equation is the transport of the particulate chemical due to net advection (Q) and dispersion (E'). The particulate chemical is assumed to be transported in the same manner as the dissolved form. The second line is the sorption-desorption mechanism discussed above and as can be noted for the particulate form, sorption is a source and desorption is a sink of toxicant. The third and fourth lines are respectively the particulate settling of the chemical from the water column and the resuspension of particulate chemical from the sediment into the water column. The settling velocity, $v_s[L/T]$ and the resuspension velocity $v_u[L/T]$ are functions of particle type (sand, silt, organics) and the hydrodynamics of the water-sediment interface. The fifth line represents any decay mechanisms (e.g. bacterial degradation) of the chemical on/in the particulate toxicant, $w_{p1}[M_T/T]$.

The particulate chemical in the sediment is given by an equation similar to Eq. (9) except that, as noted, the sediment is assumed to be stationary in the horizontal direction. That is, bed load transport or sediment movement horizontally throughout the water body is not considered.

The particulate chemical equation for the sediment segment underlying the water column segment 1 is then given by

$$V_{2} \frac{dc_{p2}}{dt} = -k_{d2} V_{2} c_{p2} + k_{u2} m_{2} V_{2} c_{d2} + v_{s} A c_{p1} - v_{u} A c_{p2} - K_{p2} V_{2} c_{p2} - v_{d} A c_{p2} .$$

(10)

The first three lines of this equation parallel the equivalent mechanisms in the water column (sorption-desorption, settling-resuspension and decay, at rate K_{p2}). The fourth line represents the net down-ward flux of sediment particulate toxicant due to the net sedimentation velocity v_d . Again, mixing of the sediment due to factors such as bioturbation or deep sediment mixing is not included, but can be added as an additional mixing term.

B. Local Equilibrium Equations

Eqs. (6) and (8) for the dissolved component and Eqs. (9) and (10) for the particulate component in the water column segments and sediment segments respectively represent a set of interactive, differential equations, one for each control volume of the finite difference grid. Note that the coupling of the dissolved and particulate components is through the reaction kinetics of sorption and desorption. For some chemicals, these reaction kinetics tend to be "fast" (i.e. completion times on the order of hours) compared to the kinetics inherent in other mechanisms of the problem. These latter mechanisms include bacterial decay, net loss rates to the sediment and sedimentation rates that have reaction times on the order of days to years.

The "fast" kinetics of sorption-desorption indicate that for time scales of days to years, there will be a virtually continuous equilibration of the dissolved and particulate forms depending on the local solids concentration. This partitioning between the two components permits the specification of the fraction of dissolved and particulate chemical to the total. The dissolved and particulate chemical are therefore assumed to be always in a "local equilibrium" with each other. Assuming that the kinetics are reversible and that the sorption/desorption kinetics are linear, then a partition coefficient $\P[M_T/M_s \div M_T/L_w]$ can be defined as follows:

$$\P = r/c'_d \tag{11}$$

or since $c'_d = c_d/\phi$

$$\P' = \P/\phi = r/c_d \tag{12}$$

for ¶' as $[M_T/M_s \div M_T/L^3]$ and r as the chemical concentration on a solids basis $[M_T/M_s]$.

The particulate toxicant concentration relative to the bulk volume is given by

$$c_p = rm. \tag{13}$$

The fraction of the total that is dissolved, f_d , is given by

 $f_d = (1 + \P' m)^{-1} \tag{14}$

and the particulate chemical as a fraction of total chemical (f_p) is given by

$$f_{p} = \frac{\P' m}{1 + \P' m} \,. \tag{15}$$

The local equilibrium assumption therefore permits specification at all times and places of the fraction of the total toxicant in the dissolved and particulate form. It should be stressed again here that this local equilibrium assumption assumes

7,

complete reversibility between the solid and liquid phases. There is evidence (e.g. Di Toro, et al. 1982a, and Di Toro, 1985) that this is not the case for certain chemicals.

Also in these relationships it is assumed that the partition coefficient does not depend on the concentration of the sorbing solids. There is considerable evidence, however, as given by O'Connor and Connolly (1980) and Di Toro (1985) who indicate that the partition coefficient does apparently depend on the concentration of solids. The development continues here on the assumption of a constant partition coefficient.

With this assumption, attention can then be focused solely on the mass balance equation for the total chemical. The total chemical in the water column or sediment is given by Eq. (3). Adding the water column equations for dissolved chemical (Eq. 6) and particulate chemical (Eq. 9) and using Eqs. 14 and 15 gives

$$V_{1} \frac{dc_{T1}}{dt} = \left[Qc_{T1}^{+} - Q_{1}c_{T1} + E'(c_{T1}^{+} - c_{T1}) + E'(c_{T1}^{-} - c_{T1}) + K_{f}A(f_{d2}c_{T2}/\phi_{2} - f_{d1}c_{T1}) - (K)V_{1}c_{T1} + k_{l1}A[(c_{g}/H_{e}) - f_{d1}c_{T1}] - v_{s}Af_{p1}c_{T1} + v_{u}Af_{p2}c_{T2}\right]$$
(16)

where $K_1 = K_{d1} + K_{p1}$.

Note that the kinetics of sorption-desorption do not appear in this equation because it represents a mass balance of the total. The net loss rates and exchanges that are dependent on the form of the toxicant do however, remain.

A total chemical equation for the sediment segement (subscript 2) can be obtained in a similar manner. Thus adding Eqs. (8) and (10) gives:

$$V_{2} \frac{dc_{T2}}{dt} = -K_{f} A(f_{d2} c_{T2}/\phi_{2} - f_{d1} c_{T1}) - (K_{2}) V_{2} c_{T2} + v_{s} A f_{p1} c_{T1} - v_{u} A f_{p2} c_{T2} - v_{d} A f_{p2} c_{T2} + K_{f} A(f_{d3} c_{T3}/\phi_{3} - f_{d2} c_{T2}/\phi_{2})$$
(17)

where $K_2 = K_{d2} + K_{p2}$.

Eqs. (16) and (17) are the fundamental equations used in the succeeding analyses. These equations are coupled parametically to the suspended solids and sediment solids concentrations (see Eqs. 14 and 15). These concentrations can be specified externally as an input or the mechanisms of solids settling, resuspension and deposition can be explicitly modeled. In addition, an independent tracer can be used to calibrate these parameters (see Thomann and Di Toro, 1983, for the use of plutonium-239, 240 as a tracer).

C. Food Chain Model

The transfer of a chemical in the aquatic food chain occurs through two principal routes:

- 1) direct uptake from the water
- 2) accumulation due to consumption of contaminated prey.

Deterministic and Statistical Models of Chemical Fate

The uptake of a chemical directly from water through transfer across the gills as in fish or through surface sorption and subsequent cellular incorporation as in phytoplankton is an important route for transfer of chemicals. This uptake is often measured by laboratory experiments where test organisms are placed in aquaria with known (and fixed) water concentrations of the chemical. The accumulation of the chemical over time is then measured and the resulting equilibrium concentration in the organism divided by the water concentration is termed the bioconcentration factor (BCF). A simple representation of this mechanism is given by a mass balance equation around a given organism. Thus,

$$\frac{dv'}{dt} = k_u w c'_d - K v' \tag{18}$$

where v' is the whole body burden of the chemical (M_T) , k_u is the uptake sorption and/or transfer rate $(L^3/T \cdot M(w); M(w) = \text{mass of organism, wet weight})$, w is the weight of the organism (M(w)), c'_d is the dissolved water concentration (M_T/L^3) , K is the desorption and excretion rate (1/T) and t is time. This equation indicates that the mass input $(\mu g/d)$ of toxicant given by $k_u wc$ is offset by the depuration mass loss rate $(\mu g/d)$ given by Kv'. The whole body burden v' is given by

$$v' = vw \tag{19}$$

where v is the concentration of the chemical $(M_T/M(w))$. Substitution of (19) into (18) gives, after simplification

$$\frac{dv}{dt} = k_u c - K' v \tag{20}$$

where

$$K' = K + G \tag{20a}$$

for G(1/T) as the net growth rate of the weight of the organism. At equilibrium or steady state,

$$v = \frac{k_u c}{K'} \tag{21}$$

and the BCF is given by

$$N_w = \frac{v}{c} = \frac{k_u}{K+G} \,. \tag{22}$$

The ratio N_w , the bioconcentrations factor, is in units $M_T/M(w) \div M_T/L^3$, e.g., $\mu g/kg \div \mu g/I (= 1/kg)$.

For organic chemicals, the BCF is conveniently defined on a lipid normalized basis, i.e. $M_T/M(\text{lip}) \div M_T/L^3$, e.g., $\mu g/kg(\text{lipid}) \div \mu g/1$. The lipid normalization assumes that the lipid compartment of the organism is the principal receptor of the hydrophobic organic chemical.

The octanol-water partition coefficient (K_{ow}) of a chemical is a useful ordering parameter to express the tendency of the chemical to partition into the lipid pool.

ļ

At equilibrium then for organic chemical BCF, to first approximation,

$$N_{w} = K_{ow} \tag{23}$$

for the laboratory case of no organic growth and N_w as the lipid normalized BCF. Thomann (1987) suggests the following expression for the field BCF as a function of K_{ow}

$$N_{w} = K_{ow} \left[1 + \frac{10^{-6} K_{ow}}{E(K_{ow})} \right]^{-1}$$
(24)

where $E(K_{ow})$ is an efficiency of chemical transfer across the gills as a functin of K_{ow} and can be approximately expressed as

$$\log E = -1.5 + 0.4 \log K_{ow} \quad \text{for } \log K_{ow} = 2-3$$

$$E = 0.5 \qquad \qquad \text{for } \log K_{ow} = 3-6 \qquad (25)$$

$$\log E = 1.2 - 0.25 \log K_{ow} \qquad \text{for } \log K_{ow} = 6-10$$

D. Age-Dependent Model

The general age-dependent model utilizes a mass balance of chemical around a defined compartment of the aquatic ecosystem. In the most general case, a compartment is defined as a specified age class of a specified organism or in steady state simplification, a compartment is considered as an "average" age class or range of ages for a given organism. Fig. 2 schematically shows the compartments. As indicated in Figure 2a, each age class of a given trophic level is considered as a compartment and a mass balance equation can be written around each such age



00 = Compartment number

Fig. 2a, b. Schematic of compartment definition for (a) age dependent model, (b) simplified steady state model

- 220

class. The zero trophic level is considered to be the phytoplankton-detritus component representing one of the principal sorption mechanisms for incorporating toxicants into the food chain.

Consider then the phytoplankton, detrital organic material, and other organisms, all of size approximately $< 100 \,\mu\text{m}$ as the base of the food chain. An equation for this compartment is given by a simple reversible sorption-desorption linear equation as:

$$\frac{dv_0}{dt} = k_{u0}c - K_0v_0$$
(26)

where all terms have been defined, the subscript zero refers to the base of the food chain, and t is real time.

For a compartment above the phytoplankton/detritus level, the mass input of the toxicant due to ingestion of contaminated food must be included. This mass input will depend on a) toxicant concentration in the food, b) rate of consumption of food and c) the degree to which the ingested toxicant in the food is actually assimilated into the tissues of the organisms.

The general mass balance equation for the whole body burden for a given compartment, i, is then similar to Eq. (18) for water uptake but with the additional mass input due to feeding. Therefore,

$$\frac{dv'_{i}}{dt} = \frac{d(vw)_{i}}{dt} = \frac{w_{i}v_{i}}{dt} + \frac{v_{i}dw_{i}}{dt} = k_{ui}w_{i}c - K_{i}v'_{i} + \sum_{i} p_{ij}\alpha_{ij}C_{i}v_{j}w_{i} \quad i = 1...m$$
(27)

where α_{ij} is the chemical assimilation efficiency $(M_T \text{ absorbed}/M_T \text{ ingested})$, C_i is the weight-specific consumption of organism i (M(w) predator/M(w) prey-d), p_{ij} is the food preference of i on j, and t is real time (days). Consider now a simple case of a sequential food chain where predation is only on the next lowest trophic level.

An equation for the individual organism weight is

$$\frac{dw_i}{dt} = (a_{i,i-1}C_i - r_i)w_i, \quad i = 1...m$$
(28)

where $a_{i,i-1}$ is the biomass assimilation efficiency $(M(w) \operatorname{predator}/M(w) \operatorname{prey})$ and r_i is the respiratory weight loss (1/T) due to routine metabolism, swimming, and other activities. The weight change is therefore

$$G_{i} = \frac{dw_{i}}{dt} / w_{i} = (a_{i,i-1}C_{i} - r_{i})$$
⁽²⁹⁾

Equation (27), for a food chain in contrast to a food web, can then be written as

$$\frac{dv_i}{dt} = k_{ui}c + \alpha_{i,i-1}C_iv_{i-1} - K'_iv_i, \quad i - \dots m$$
(30)

where i is the predator and i - 1 is the prey.



Fig. 3. Illustration of meaning of $w_i(t)$ and $v_i(t)$ showing as an example a 0-1year old and 1-2 year old alewife

The interpretation of w_i and v_i in Eqs. (28) and (30) is further explained in Fig. 3. The variation of the weight (and chemical organism concentration) of a given compartment (i.e. a given age class of a given organism) is shown with real time. If as an example, w_5 is a 0-1 year old alewife then it is seen that the weight of this age class may vary from year to year. Similarly, the distribution of the chemical may change from year to year for a given compartment depending on, for example, the variation in the water column toxicant concentration. The specification of the boundaries of a given compartment depends on the life cycle of the organism.

It should be recognized therefore that several of the biological and chemical parameters of the weight change equation (29) and the food chain equation (30) are functions of organism weight within the time interval defined by the compartment. See Thomann and Connolly, 1984, for an application of the age dependent model to PCB accumulation in the lake trout of Lake Michigan.

II. Steady State Simplification for Rivers

In spite of the complexity of Eqs. (16) and (17), it can be shown (see (e.g. Thomann and Mueller, 1987) that under steady state and constant spatial parameters that for a single source to first approximation, the maximum concentration c_0 is at the outfall. Thus

 $c_0 = (Q_u c_u + Q_e c_e)/Q$

where Q_u and c_u are the upstream flow and concentration, respectively, Q_e and c_e are the effluent flow and concentration respectively, and Q is the total river flow.

Since the maximum generally occurs at the outfall, there are generally two situations where one would be interested in estimating the downstream fate of a discharged chemical:

- a) There is a critical water use point downstream of a single discharge and the concentration at the point of use (e.g., a water supply withdrawal) needs to be estimated
- b) there are several inputs of the same chemical along the length of the river and the total concentration must be estimated.

The downstream fate of the chemical or mixture depends on:

- a) the properties of the river such as the depth, velocity and dilution downstream due to groundwater infiltration or tributary inflow,
- b) the chemical properties, such as volatilization, biodegradation, or partitioning onto the solids.

Thomann and Mueller (1987) discuss these factors in some detail. A simplified summary (from Thomann and Salas, 1986) is given here. An important point for the computation of the downstream fate of a chemical or chemical mixture is that the calculation is very similar, indeed for preliminary analyses, the computation is identical to classical stream water quality calculations. The basic equation under steady state conditions is given by

$$c = c_0 \exp\left[-\left[K_T + q\right]t = c_0 \exp\left[-\left(\frac{v_T}{HU} + q\right)x\right]$$

$$= c_0 \exp\left[-\left(K + q'\right)t^*\right]$$
(31)

where c is the concentration as a function of distance downstream, c_0 is the chemical concentration or toxicity in the river after mixing of the outfall, v_T is the net loss of chemical expressed as a velocity [L/T], t^* is the time of travel (= x/u), q is the slope of the natural logarithm of river flow with distance, H is river depth, U is river velocity and q' is the river flow slope on a travel time basis.

The calculation of the downstream fate of a toxic substance or toxicity of an effluent or effluents depends then on the estimation of the dilution of the river and

(33)

the loss rate of the chemical. The discharge of a conservative substance with no dilution would result in a constant concentration in the downstream direction, i.e., from Eq. (31) with K_T and q' = 0, $c = c_0$.

The determination of whether there is an downstream infiltration of groundwater or overland drainage can be made by examining the downstream distribution of a known conservative substance such as chlorides or total dissolved solids or other tracer.

If dilution exists then a conservative substance may exhibit apparent nonconservative behavior. The for $K_T = 0$, but $q' \neq 0$, Eq. (31) is

$$c = c_0 \exp\left(-qt^*\right) \tag{32}$$

which indicates an exponential decline in the conservative substance due to distributed downstream dilution.

Finally, if the toxic substance is non-conservative, i.e., the chemical undergoes biodegradation or volatilization or other losses and dilution is also occurring then the net loss rate of the chemical, K_T must be estimated.

Table 1 provides some guidelines for a preliminary assessment of downstream fate. Toxicity in this Table is whole-effluent toxicity of the chemical mixture to standard organisms and is expressed on a toxic unit basis. A toxic unit is defined

$$Tu = 100/LC50$$
 or NOEL

where LC50 is the lethal concentration to 50% of the organisms and NOEL is the no observed effect level. As indicated, both the heavy metals and the toxicity measure are assumed to be a conservative variable for first approximations. Thus, only dilution need be considered for these variables. For the organic chemicals a somewhat arbitrary division has been made based on the water solubility of the chemical.

The rationale is that at solubilities less than about $1\mu g/l$, the chemical will partition onto the solids because of a relatively high partition coefficient (about $10^4 - 10^6 l/kg$). Also, the general tendency will be for such chemicals to biodegrade and volatilize to a lesser degree than the more soluble chemicals. For first approximations, however, such low solubility chemicals may be assumed conservative.

Group	Guideline ¹⁾	
Heavy metals	Conservative ($K_T = 0$) and additive	
Toxicity	Conservative $(K_T = 0)$ and additive	
Organic chemicals	Conservative $(K_T = 0)$ and additive	
Water solubility $> 1 \mu g_c l$	······································	
Organic chemicals	Estimate loss rate (Eq. 34)	
Water solubility > 1 μ g/l		

Table 1. Guideline for estimating downstream loss rate of chemicals and toxicity

¹⁾ In all cases, dilution in the downstream direction must be included Source: Thomann and Salas (1986)

Organic chemicals Chemical solubility	f_d – Fraction chemical in	n of dissolved form ¹⁾	Ratio of pa to total co t/c _T [µg/g -	articulate conc. nc. - µg/1] ²¹
	Range	Approxi. mean	Range	Approx. mean
> 100 10-100 < 10	0.5-1.0 0.3-0.9 0.3-0.8	0.7 0.5 0.4	0-50 0.1-70 0.1-70	10 50 60
Heavy metals	0.6-1.0	0.8	0.4-16	2.5

Table 2. Approximate fraction of total chemical in dissolved form and on particulates

¹⁾ Approximated from solids dependent partition coefficient relationships of Di Toro (1985), solids range $10 \rightarrow 1000 \text{ mg/l}$

²⁾
$$r/c_T = (1 - f_d)/(.01 \to 1.0)$$

Source: Thomann and Salas, 1986

For organic chemicals with solubilities greater than about $1 \mu g/l$, the loss rate must be estimated. For first approximations, the net loss velocity $v_T (= K_T H)$ can be estimated from

$$v_{T} = K_{T} H = (K_{d} H + k_{l}) f_{d} + v_{n} f_{p}$$
(34)

where $K_d[T^{-1}]$ is the decay rate of the chemical due to processes such as biodegradation or photolysis, k_l is the loss due to volatilization [L/T], v_n is the net loss velocity of the solids in the river [L/T] and f_d and f_p are the dissolved and particulate fractions of the total (see Eqs. 14 and 15).

For rivers, the net loss of solids often, although not always, can be assumed equal to zero. Thus, $v_n = 0$ and the chemical loss rate depends only on the degradation rate, volatilization rate and fraction dissolved.

Table 2 provides some guidelines for estimating the fraction of the chemical that is in the dissolved form. These guidelines employ a more complex interaction of chemical partitioning and solids concentration as given in Di Toro (1985) and discussed in Thomann and Mueller (1987). The f_d can also be approximated with Eq. 14. Figure 4 shows the range of the volatilization loss rate as a function of the river depth and reaeration characteristics. This figure is for substances with Henry's constant > 10^{-4} atm-m³/mol for which the volatilization rate is estimated from the oxygen transfer rate K_L . Thus,

$$k_{l} \approx \left(\frac{32}{M}\right)^{1/4} K_{L} \tag{35}$$

where

$$K_L = \left(D_L \frac{U}{H}\right)^{1/2}, \text{ for } D = \text{oxygen diffusivity (0.000181 m^2/d).}$$
(36)

16



Fig. 4. Range of volatilization loss rate as a function of river depth for different oxygen transfer rates

The loss rate, K_d , is generally site-specific and chemical specific and no general simplification is available.

Table 2 also gives the approximate ratio of the chemical adsorbed to the suspended particulates to the total water concentration. Therefore,

$$\pi = r/c_T \tag{37}$$

for π in $\mu g/g(d) + \mu g/l$, r in $\mu g/g(d)$ and c_T in $\mu g/l$ (g(d) = grams dry weight).

It can also be shown that for $\P_2 = \P_1$ and $K_{d2} = 0$, the sediment particulate concentration is equal to the water column particulate concentration, i.e.,

 $r_2 = r_1 \tag{38}$

where r_2 is the sediment particulate concentration and r_1 is the water column particulate concentration both in $\mu g/g(d)$.

In summary, it is seen that the calculation of the fate of the chemical or mixture is similar to the procedure for conventional water quality variables. For many chemicals including the toxicity measure, the assumption that the chemical is conservative is appropriate for first approximations. If such an assumption cannot be made, then an estimate of the downstream loss rate must be made using the preliminary guidelines discussed here.

336

III. Time Variable Models of Benzo(a)pyrene and Cadmium in the Great Lakes

In this section, the fully time-variable model (Eqs. (16) and (17)) is applied to two chemicals: a) benzo(a)pyrene, a polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH), and b) cadmium, a representative metal. The model uses the Great Lakes segmentation of Thomann and Di Toro (1983) shown in Fig. 5 and details are in Thomann and Di Toro (1984).

Benz(a)pyrene

The distribution of this chemical, one of the PAH compounds resulting from incomplete combustion of organic materials has been widely studied (e.g., Neff, 1979) because of its potential carcinogenicity. The fate of benzo(a)pyrene (BaP) in the Great Lakes has recently been evaluated in a series of papers by B.J. Eadie (Eadie et al., 1982; Eadie, 1983; Eadie et al., 1983). In that work, data are presented for the range of concentration of BaP in the water column and surficial sediments as well as preliminary data on the BaP concentration in the pore water of the sediment. It is those data (together with estimates of loading) that can be used as an application of the physico-chemical model.

BaP is sparingly soluble in water $0.172 \,\mu$ g/L (Neff, 1979) and as such would be expected to have an affinity for solids. The partitioning onto particulates and in addition, the extent of volatilization of the BaP must be estimated. Although BaP is



Fig. 5. Great Lakes and Saginaw Bay and sediment segmentation used in model

ł

	Calculated range all lakes ^{e)}	of BaP across	Observed menor	Ref.
	= 10,000 l/kg	= 100.000 l/kg	Observed mean of BaP	KCI.
Total water (Conc. (ng/l))	5-6	1-2	12 ± 8 ^{bi}	Eadie et al (1983)
			Mich: $480 \pm 246(7)^{c}$ Erie: $255 \pm 152(3)$	
Surficial sediment	38-60	46-133	Sup. : 28(1)	Eadie (1983)
Conc. $(ng/g(d))$			Hur. : 294(1)	
			Ont. : 306(1)	
Sediment pore Water conc. (ng/l)	3-5	0.5-1.3	850 ± 1260	Eadie et al. (1983)
Particulate Conc. in Water Column (ng/g(d))	46-64	46-165	Mich: 200-400	Eadie (1983)

Table 3. Comparison of calculated and observed BaP for great lakes under different solids partition assumptions

⁴⁾ After 20 years of loading

^{b)} Mean <u>+</u> Std. Dve.

^{c)} () = No. of samples



Fig. 6. Comparison between calculated surface sediment BaP concentration after 20 years and observed concentration

known to undergo photolysis (Neff, 1979) this pathway is not considered in this application.

The estimated atmospheric loading on an areal basis is about 95 g BaP/km²-yr across all of the lakes but as noted by Eadie (1983), all BaP load estimates are based on quite limited data and therefore may vary as additional information becomes available. From the data given in Eadie (1983) for Lake Michigan, and other data, the model for BaP was run for ¶ from 10,000 to 100,000 l/kg, thereby providing a range of one order of magnitude in the solids partition coefficient.

The time variable calculation using a steady loading for 20 years is shown in Table 3 and in Figs. 6 and 7. As shown in Table 3, the lake to lake variation in BaP concentrations either in the water column or the sediment differs by less than about a factor of two. The highest concentration of BaP in the surface sediments for $\P = 10,000$ is in Saginaw Bay. It can also be noted in Table 3 and Fig. 6 that at $\P = 10,000$ the calculated surface sediment concentration for Lakes Michigan and Erie is about 45 ng/g(d) or about one order of magnitude lower than the observed data. Figure 7 shows the calculated time history under the two partition coeffi-



Fig. 7. Time variable BaP response in Lake Michigan under two partition coefficients with 20 year constant loading

cients. For $\P = 10,000 \text{ l/kg}$, the water column and sediment are at about 80 and 60% of steady state respectively while for $\pi = 100,000 \text{ l/kg}$, the water column and sediment are at about 20% of steady state.

Figure 6 and Table 3 indicate that a more favorable (but not totally desirable) comparison to observed data is obtained at the higher BaP partition coefficient of 100,000 l/kg. The results also indicate the need to determine the partition coefficient for BaP, as a representative PAH for Great Lakes solids concentrations. On the basis of this application of the physico-chemical model to BaP in the Great Lakes, it is concluded that:

- 1) the estimate of the BaP partition coefficient obtained from published empirical relationships is probably low by about an order of magnitude for the Great Lakes system.
- 2) with an increased BaP partition coefficient and assuming loss due to volatilization, the physico-chemical toxic substances model of the Great Lakes approximate observed BaP water column and sediment data only to order of magnitude,
- 3) the model confirms that on a lake-wide scale, the principal external source of BaP is the atmosphere,
- 4) for the larger lakes such as Michigan, the 50% response time of the lake to external loads is about 6-10 years for the water column-sediment system while for Lake Erie the response time is about two years.
- 5) lake to lake variations in BaP water column and sediment concentrations are less than a factor of two.

Cadmium

Time variable model calculations for cadmium were made using the low and high load estimate of Table 4 and two assumptions on the cadmium partition coeffi-

	Atmospheric ¹⁾	Tributary ³⁾	Mun. + Ind.4)	Тс	otal
Lake/Region	mt/yr	mt/yr	(mt/yr)	mt/yr	g/km²-yr
Superior	41-108	13-126	0-0.3	54-234	651-2823
Michigan	12-120	9-92	0.44	21-216	363-3739
Huron	23-57	14-136	0.1-1	37-194	644-3378
Sag. Bay ²⁾	3	2	0	5	1184
Erie-West	1-18	2-20	18	446	1321-15202
-Central	3-94	2-16	0.2-2	5-112	318-7126
-East	1-38	1-12	0.1-0.5	2-51	320-8155
Ontario	10-44	7-66	0.6-6	18-116	924-5953

Table 4. Summary of contemporary external cadmium loads (not including upstream loads)

¹⁾ From Allena and Halley (1980)

²⁾ From Dolan and Bierman (1982)

³⁾ Assuming tributary flow at total cadmium conc. of $0.2-1.0 \,\mu g/l$

4) At 0.5-5.0 µg/l for direct municipal point sources

	Range in total Background water	Background conc. used in load	Background	External	, External background load	Ratio: Contemp. load
Late/Region	Col. conc. (ng/1) ¹	estimate (ng/)	(mt/yr) ²	(mt/yr) ³	g/km²-yr	Background load
	22 AC	40	6.1	6.1	37	18-76
Superior	93 AC	40	3.1	3.1	54	7-69
Michigan	0'7-0'7 V V V V	0.5	\$ 2	4.8	83	8-41
Huron		0.01	0.6	0.4	105	Ξ
Sag. Bay	0.5-13.0	0.01	0.1	86	283	5-54
Erie-West	12.5-25.0	0.02	0.01	0.0	515	0.5-11
Central	5.0-10.0	8.0	0.22	10.0		11 60
Fact	5.010.0	8.0	12.0	4.7	40/	
Ontario	2.8-5.6	4.0	4.0	2.6	132	(4-1

Table 5. Estimate of approximate background cadmium concentration for great lakes

¹³ At assumed background sediment conc. of $0.5-1.0 \,\mu gCd/g(d)$; $r_2 = r_1$ and

²¹ Includes any upstream or exchange loads³¹ Not including any upstream or exchange loads

•

į

11 --

۱

ı

1

i

cient: a) variable partition with solids concentration as given in HydroQual (1982) by

$$\P = (3.52 \cdot 10^6) m^{-0.92} \tag{39}$$

and b) a constant partition coefficient of $2 \cdot 10^5$ l/kg. Cadmium was assumed to be conservative. For all calculations, zero initial conditions were assumed and the loads were inputted as constant over time. It became apparent from initial runs that the time to steady state especially for the upper lakes is long so that the computation was carried out for a 100 year period. The computation therefore represents the response of the Great Lakes system to a constant loading and such loading can be viewed as a loading in addition to the background loading and cadmium concentrations shown in Table 5. If increased loading of cadmium is assumed to have begun in approximately the 1920's then the output from the model calculation at t = 50 years would be representative of the 1970's, the period during which some reliable data are available.

Figure 8 shows the comparison of calculated and observed surface sediment cadmium data for t = 50 years. As shown, the calculation is reasonable to order magnitude. Figure 9 (high load estimate) show the full 100 year calculation for Lake Michigan and central Lake Erie as illustrations. The sensitivity of the calculation to the assumptions in the partition coefficient is shown. As indicated, the effect of the solids dependent partition coefficient is to greatly increase the time to steady state as a result of the diffusive flux of cadmium from the sediment due to



Fig. 8. Calculated surface sediment concentration $(\mu g/g(d))$ at t = 50 years with partition coefficient as a function of solids concentration





Fig. 9. Comparison of calculated cadmium concentration under two assumptions on partition coefficient. High load estimate

the lower partition coefficient. For Lake Michigan, the surface sediment concentration decreases with the variable partition coefficient but for Lake Erie the surface sediment concentration increases. The continual increase in concentration for central Lake Erie reflects the non-equilibrium condition of the upstream Lakes.

If a constant partition coefficient is assumed (as in Muhlbaier and Tisue, 1981), then it is seen that for the water column a steady state is reached in about 25 years for Lake Michigan and about 10 years for Lake Erie. A calculation then for Lake Michigan that attempts to calibrate to a mean concentration of 27 ng/l (Muhlbaier and Tisue (1981)) then is simply a matter of estimating the approximate average load and may not reflect a non-steady state condition as concluded by Muhlbaier and Tisue (1981). However under a solids dependent partition coefficient for cadmium, the Great Lakes are not in equilibrium with the external load and for all practical purposes never reach a steady state condition. Clearly then, under this model construct, it is important to determine the solids dependence of cadmium for the range of solids encountered in the Great Lakes water column and sediments (i.e. 0.5-240,000 mg/l). If however it is assumed that a solids dependent partition coefficient as given by Eq. (?) is applicable to the Great Lakes, then the system is not in equilibrium with respect to the external load. It is concluded from this application of the time variable physico-chemical model to cadmium in the Great Lakes that

- 1) The degree of any dependence of the cadmium partition coefficient with solids has a market effect on time to steady state and interstitial cadmium concentration.
- 2) Under a solids dependent cadmium partition assumption, the Great Lakes, especially the upper Lakes, do not reach a steady state condition after 100 years of constant loading.
- 3) Under a constant partition coefficient for cadmium, the Lakes do reach an equilibrium condition varying from about 25 years for Lake Michigan to years for Lake Erie.
- 4) The concentration of cadmium in the Lakes would be expected to increase by about 60% over the next 50 years if the average cadmium loading for the preceding 50 years continues.
- 5) Based on assumed sediment cadmium concentrations for Lake Erie, it is estimated that the cadmium concentration in the water column is about an order of magnitude higher than the other Lakes.

IV. Statistical Variation in Fish

The statistical behavior of a chemical in fish is of interest for at least three reasons:

- a) U.S. Food and Drug Administration action limits for fish have resulted in the closing of commercial fisheries because of excessive concentrations of chemicals in predators such as the striped bass in the Hudson estuary and surrounding waters. The ability to predict not only the mean value of chemical in a fish but also the variance of the concentration is of importance in control strategies needed to reopen a fishery.
- b) The relationships between variable exposure concentrations in the water column and resulting variability in fish and other organisms is also related to the subsequent acute and chronic toxicity effects on the organism, and, as such, a framework for predicting organism chemical variance is of value in elucidating toxic effects on aquatic animals.
- c) The integration of the physico-chemical modeling framework (which includes external inputs of the chemical to the water column) and the biological modeling framework in a time variable sense to predict statistical properties in the water and fish is of particular value in a generalized risk assessment determination.

The variability of chemicals in water over time is large. Figure 10 from the Mississippi River is an example. Recognizing this variability in the water chemical concentration of the food chain model of Sect. I-C, analytical models of expected response in the fish can be developed.



Fig. 10. Organic chemical data from Mississippi River, Jefferson Parish station, Chloroform (top) time series, (bottom) cumulative frequency distribution. (Compiled from data of USEPA, 1986)

Analytical Model of Statistical Variation of Organic Chemical in Fish—Water Uptake Only

Consider the case where the water concentration to which the fish is exposed is represented by a first-order autoregressive process. Thus, the autocorrelation function for the water concentration is assumed as

$$a_{\perp} = \exp(-ak); k = 0, 1, 2...m$$
(40)

where ρ_{ck} is the normalized autocovariance, k is the lag number, m is the maximum number of lags and a is the exponential decay rate of the autocorrelation.

(41)

346

Now

 $\rho_{ck} = \rho_{c1}^k$

and then from (39) and (40),

$$\rho_{c1} = \exp\left(-a\right). \tag{42}$$

For the synthetic generation of a time series x_i with a first-order autoregressive input, Bras and Iturbe (1985) give

$$(x_t - \mu) = \rho_1 (x_{t-1} - \mu) + \sigma_x (1 - \rho_1^2)^{1/2} Z(t)$$
(43)

for mean μ , variance σ_x^2 and Z(t) a standard normal deviate (mean = 0, variance = 1).

Thus if a $\gg 0$, i.e. the autocorrelation function drops repidly to zero at about lag one, $\rho_1 \rightarrow 0$ and Eq. (42) gives

 $x_t - \mu = \sigma_x Z(t)$

or a normally distributed uncorrelated random variable, the "white noise" case.

For the autocorrelation given by Eq. (39), Bendat and Piersol (1971) show that the spectrum for frequency f is

$$G_c^N(f) = \frac{4a}{a^2 + 4\pi^2 f^2}$$
(44)

where $G_c^N(f)$ is a normalized spectrum. Therefore,

$$G_c(f) = \sigma^2 G_c^N(f) \,. \tag{45}$$

The variance of the fish concentration can then be shown to be (Thomann, 1987)

$$\sigma_{v}^{2} = \sigma_{c}^{2} k_{u}^{2} 4a \int_{0}^{\infty} (K'^{2} + 4\pi^{2} f^{2})^{-1/2} (a^{2} + 4\pi^{2} f^{2})^{-1/2} df.$$
(46)

Completing the integration, the ratio of the coefficients of variation between the fish and the water is

$$r = \sqrt{\frac{K'}{a+K'}} \tag{47}$$

where

$$r = \frac{vv}{v_c}$$

for vv and v_c as the coefficients of variation of the chemical in the fish and in the water, respectively. This remarkably simple result indicates the significance of the depuration rate plus growth rate, K', as the principal controlling factors in generating relative variability in the fish concentration.

In Eq. (46), r depends primarily on K' because at low excretion rate, pulses in water concentration tend to be retained by the fish over a longer period of time than at high excretion rates. Similarly, as a fish increases in weight, concentration variability will tend to shift into the low frequency end of the variance spectrum.

26



Fig. 11. The effect of the first order autocorrelation parameter of the water concentration on the relationship between r and K_{ow} . Growth rate variable, wt. = 1000 g

Figure 11 shows the behavior of r from Eq. (46) and indicates that correlated water concentrations increases the variability of the fish concentration relative to water. This is a consequence of correlated inputs introducing more "low frequency" variations in water concentration which are not dampened by the fish. Thus additional variance propagates through the fish and is reflected in the increase in the coefficient of variation.

Laboratory data for evaluating this analytical development come from two papers of Oliver and Niimi (1983, 1985). In this work, rainbow trout were exposed to chlorinated and brominated organic chemicals for up to about 100 days.

In Oliver and Niimi (1983), the data reported include the individual fish concentrations and associated water concentrations and the accompanying statistics of mean and standard deviation. For Oliver and Niimi (1985) only the BCF are reported. To use the data in this research, the fish concentrations were calculated from the individual BCF values and the mean water concentration. These data are therefore only an approximation to the actual fish concentration.

As noted frequently by the authors, several of the chemicals did not reach equilibrium during the test. The preceding statistical development assumes a dynamic equilibrium has been reached. The computation of the variance would be severely biased by the increase in concentration to a dynamic equilibrium. With a few exceptions, those chemicals excluded by the authors have also been excluded herein.

Figure 12 (top) shows the results of compiling these data and calculating the r ratio: v_y/v_c . As a function of log K_{aw} , it is seen that there is a general downward



Fig. 12. (Top) Compiled laboratory r values from experiments of Oliver and Niimi (1983, 1984), (bottom) comparison of calculated and observed r values under assumptions on water correlation structure and metabolic rate

trend to the data from initial values of > 1 at low log K_{ow} . The four circled points at the high $\log K_{ow}$ value of >6 are exceptions. The chemicals are pentabromotoluene, pentabromoethylbenzene, hexabromobenzene and octachloronaphthalene. These points were also noted by Oliver and Niimi (1985) in their evaluation of the BCF data. No ready explanation is available for why these chemicals exhibit less relative variability than expected, although there are no data in this $\log K_{ow}$ range where r values are low. Indeed, the data indicate a trend towards decreasing rvalues to a minimum at about log K_{ow} of about 5.5 and then an increase to higher r values with increasing log K_{ow} . This is not consistent with the previously developed theory as shown in Fig. 12 (bottom).

This figure shows the calculation of the theoretical r ratio under three different assumptions. For these calculations the growth rate of the rainbow trout was calculated from the reported data at an average level of about 0.01/d. Also, the excretion rate is given Eqs. (22) and (23) and the uptake rate as a function of the efficiency of transfer E. Thus,

$$K = \frac{10^3 \, w^{-0.2} \, E/p}{K_{ow}} \tag{48}$$

where p is the fraction lipid and E is given by Eqs. (25).

The first calculation assumed the water concentration was statistically "white noise", i.e. uncorrelated in time. As noted, this calculation underestimates r by a significant amount.

The second calculation using Eq. (46) assumed a correlated first order process (a = 0.9) for the water concentration. Now, the lower bound of the r ratios is captured although at $\log K_{ow}$'s of >6 the model deviates from the data.

Case 3 is a calculation assuming some metabolism at a high rate of 1.0/d. This is essentially an additive factor to the excretion rate and as seen, the calculation now approximates the data somewhat better. As noted however, this calculation is simply an hypothesized mechanism for increasing the loss rate of the chemical. In the theoretical development, the only parameter that influences the shape of the rfunction is the excretion (+ metabolism) rate. To capture the four circled points with the theory would require an increase in the effective excretion + metabolism rate to levels of > 1.0 day.

In summary, the laboratory data of Oliver and Niimi show a general downward trend of the r ratio with $\log K_{ow}$, but with several notable exceptions at high $\log K_{ow}$. The theory approximately duplicates the observed data only with a high level of first order correlated water input at to about $\log K_{ow}$ of about 5.5-6.0. At higher log K_{ow} 's, increased metabolism and/or excretion would be necessary to reproduce the observed data.

V. Conclusions

The physio-chemical and food chain model structures discussed herein provide a basis for understanding and predicting the fate and transport of chemicals in

surface water systems. While the fully time variable equations appear formidable, steady state simplifications permit rapid assessment of chemical fate, both in the water column and in the food chain. Such initial screening models have the same structure as "classical" water quality models; notably a linear response to external inputs of chemicals.

The interaction of the sediment and water column plays a significant role and again under some reasonable assumptions, rapid estimates can be made of chemical concentrations in the sediment.

In a similar setting, the age dependent food chain models can be simplified at steady state and rapid screening assessments of chemical bioconcentration can be made. For organic chemicals, the octanol water partition coefficient is a useful ordering parameter. Lone term time variabe deterministic calculations for the Great Lakes indicate the significance of the sediment as a reservoir of the chemical. Response times to changes in external load are long (e.g. years) and are significantly increased when sediment partition coefficients are assumed to be different from water column partition coefficients.

Stochastic variability in chemical concentration is high. Analytical models of the resulting variability of chemical concentration in fish indicates the importance of the excretion rate of the chemical. However, additional research is necessary to more fully describe the observed variance in laboratory experiments especially for chemicals with log octanol water partition coefficients greater than about 6.5.

Acknowledgements. The research directed towards the long term calculations in the Great Lakes was partially supported through a Cooperative Agreement between the USEPA (Large Lakes Research Station) and Manhattan College. Grateful acknowledgement is made to Mr. William Richardson of the USEPA for his support and enthusiasm in the work. The research directed towards the stochastic variability analyses was supported by a grant from the National Science Foundation to Manhattan College. Grateful thanks are offered to Mr. Ed Bryant of NSF for his encouragement of that research.

Colleagues at the Manhattan College Environmental Engineering and Science Graduate Program deserve special mention for their constant willingness to share insights and thoughts on the research. Special and grateful thanks are therefore given to Donald J. O'Connor, Dominic M. Di Toro and John P. Connolly. Finally, the typing of the manuscript by Eileen Lutomski is gratefully appreciated.

References

- Allen, H.E., Halley, M.A. (1980) Assessment of airborne inorganic contaminants in the Great Lakes. Appendix B of 1980 Annual Report Appendix-Background Reports. Grt. Lks. Sci. Adv. Bd., IJC, Windsor, Ont., 160 pp
- Bendat, J.S., Piersol, A.G. (1971) Random data: analysis and measurement procedures. Wiley-Interscience, New York, 407 pp
- Bras, R.L., Rodriguez-Iturbe, I. (1985) Random functions and hydrology. Addison-Wesley Pub. Co., Reading, MA, 559 pp
- Delos, C.G., Richardson, W.L., DePinto, J.V., Ambrose, R.B., Rodgers, P.W., Rygwelski, K., St. John, J.P., Shaughnessy, W.J., Faha, T.A., Christie, W.N. (1984) Technical Guidance Manual for Performing Waste Load Allocations, Book II. Streams and Rivers, Chapter 3, Toxic Substances. Off. of Water Reg. and Stds., Monitoring and Data Support Div., Water Qual. Anal. Br., USEPA, Washington, D.C., 203 pp + Appendix. EPA-440/4-84-022

- Di Toro, D.M., O'Connor, D.J., Thomann, R.V., St. John, J.P. (1981) Analysis of fate of chemicals in receiving waters, phase 1. Chemical Manufact. Assoc., Washington, D.C., Prepared by HydroQual, Inc., Mahwah, N.J., 8 Chapters + 4 Appendixes
- Di Toro, D.M., Horzempa, L.M., Casey, M.M., Richardson, W. (1982a) Reversible and resistant components of PCB adsorption-desorption: Adsorbent concentration effects. J. Great Lakes Res. 8(2), 336-349
- Di Toro, D.M., O'Connor, D.J., Thomann, R.V., St. John, J.P. (1982b) Simplified model of the fate of partitioning chemicals in lakes and streams. In: Dickson, D.S., Maki, A.W., Cairns, J., Jr. (eds.) Modeling the fate of chemicals in the aquatic environment. Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, MI, pp. 165-190
- Di Toro, D.M. (1985) A particle interaction model of reversible organic chemical sorption. Chemosphere 14(10), 1503-1538
- Dolan, D.M., Bierman, V.J., Jr. (1982) Mass balance modeling of heavy metals in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron. J. Grt. Lks. Res. 8(4), 676-694
- Eadie, B.J., Faust, W., Gardner, W.S., Nalepa, T. (1982) Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sediments and associated benthos in Lake Erie. Chemosphere 11(2), 185-191
- Eadie, B.J., Rice, C.P., Frez, W.A. (1983) The role of the benthic boundary in the cycling of PCBs in the Great Lakes. In: Mackay, D., Paterson, S., Eisenreich, S.J., Simmons, M.S. (eds.) Physical behavior of PCBs in the Great Lakes, Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Michigan, pp. 213-228.
- Eadie, B.J., Faust, W.R., Landrum, P.F., Morehead, N.R., Gardner, W.S., Nalepa, T. (1983) Bioconcentrations of PAH by some benthic organisms of the Great Lakes. 7th PAH Vol., Battelle Mem. Inst.
- HydroQual, (1987) Report on metal partition coefficients. Prepared for USEPA, Large Lakes Research Sta., Grosse Ile, MI
- Muhlbaier, J., Tisue, G.T. (1981) Cadmium in the southern basin of Lake Michigan. Water, Air and Soil Poll. 15, 45-59
- Neff, J.M. (1979) Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the aquatic environment. Applied Sci. Pub. Ltd., London, Eng., 262 pp
- O'Connor, D.J., Connolly, J.P. (1980) The effect of concentration of adsorbing solids on the partition coefficient. Water Research 14, 1517-1523.

Oliver, B.G., Niimi, A.J. (1983) Environ. Sci. Technol. 17, 287-291

- Oliver, B.G., Niimi, A.J. (1985) Environ. Sci. Technol. 19,842-849
- Thomann, R.V., Di Toro, D.M. (1983) Physico Chemical Model of Toxic Substances in the Great Lakes. J. Great Lakes Res. 9(4), 474-496

Thomann, R.V., Di Toro, D.M. (1984) Physico chemical model of toxic substances in the Great Lakes. Project Report to USEPA, Large Lakes Res. Sta., Grosse Ile, MI, 163 pp

- Thomann, R.V., Connolly, J.P. (1984) Age dependent food chain model of PCB in Lake Michigan lake trout. Env. Sci. & Tech., Feb. 1984
- Thomann, R.V., Salas, H.J. (1986) Manual on Toxic Substances in Surface Waters. Pan American Health Organization, CEPIS, Lima, Peru
- Thomann, R.V. (1987) Statistical model of environmental contaminants using variance spectrum analysis. Final Report to the National Science Foundation, 161 pp. + Append
- Thomann, R.V., Mueller, J.A. (1987) Principles of surface water quality modeling and control. Harper and Row Pub. Inc., N.Y., N.Y., 644 pp
- Thomann, R.V. (1987) Bioaccumulation model of organic chemical distribution in aquatic food chains. Draft manuscript
- USEPA, (1986) Private correspondence. Municipal Environmental Research Lab., Cincinnati, OH

ja,

H.

1

ı

t

31